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MR. SORENSON: Please the Cdurt, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. SORENSON: Before you is Dyzshon, D-y-z-s-h-o-n,
Boykins. We’re here on Indictment 2011-GS-38-1722. He is
represented by Mark Wise Qith the Public Defender’s Office.

He was originally charged, indicted for one count of
armed robbery. He is waiving presentiment, Your Honor, and
pleading guilty to entering a bank with intent to steal.

We are recommending a seven year sentence.

THE CLERK: Please raise your right hand.

(WHEREUPON, Dyzéhon Boykins, was
sworn to tell the truth.)

THE CLERK: Thank ydu.

MR. WISE: Good morning, Your Honor. I am Mark Wiée, W-
i-s-e, the office of the Public Defender appearing with Mr.
Boykins.

THE COURT: Very well.

Dyzshon is your first name?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did I say it correctly?

MR. éOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Dyzshon Rakeem Antonio>Boykins?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I have an indictment I'm going to publish.

It’s not been presented yet before the Orangeburg Grand
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State v. Boykins 2/11/13 4
Jury.

MR. SORENSON: He was indicted for armed robbery, Your
Honor, -but I don’'t believe entering a bank with intent to
steal would be a‘'lesser included. So he’s waiving
presentment on that charge.

THE COURT: All right. We’re going to publish this
indictment nevertheless.

This indictment reads, in part, -- the number is 2011-
GS-38-1722. On December 28, 2010, while in Orangeburg
County, that you, using threats or force while armed
alleging words or action did commit the offense of robbery,
take away the goods of South Carolina State Credit Union
with the intent to deprive the victims of those monies and
goods. This offense béing a violation of Code Section 16-
11-330. |

It is my pnderstanding that you’re going to plead
guilty to the offense of entering a bank with the intent to
steal, which is not necessarily a lesser included, but -you
are waiving presentment to that;offense; is that correct?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right.

Mr. Wise, you represent Mr. Boykins?

MR. WISE: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you advised him of the elements of‘this

offense of entering a bank with the intent to steal and the
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potential punishment he faces?

MR. WISE: I have.

THE COURT: And do you believe that the state has
sufficient evidence to convict him if he were to proceed to
trial?

MR. WISE: I do.

THE COURT: And do you agree with his decision to enter
this plea?

MR. WISE: I do.

THE COURT: All right.

Mr. Boykins, back to you. 1In the last 24 hours have
you taken any alcohol, drugs or medications of any type?

MR. BOYKINS: No, sir.

THE COURT: Are you clear headed right now?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you suffer from any disabilities, whether
mental, physical or emotional ones that would effect your
understanding or hearing of what I'm saying to you?

MR. BOYKINS: No, sir.

THE COURT: Now, if you want to plead guilty on this
offense you'must give up your constitution rights to a jury
trial. Do you understand what a jury trial is? |

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that a jury trial, the

state bears the burden of proving your guilty. For the
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state to meet its burden it’s required to call the witness,
the present evidence sufficient to convince all 12 jurors
unanimously of your guilt. Do you understand that?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand that your attorney, Mr.

Wise, would be allowed to cross-examine each and every

witness the state would call, he’”s allowed to challenge any
evidence they try to introduce. He’'s allowed to present
defenses that you may have available to you under our laws.
In order to plead guilty you give up that right of
confrontation, also. Do you understand that?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, éir.

'THE COURT: Lastly, during a trial you can sit at tﬁe
counsel table, you cannot be forced to testify in your own
defense, the state cannot call you as a witness nor may the
state comment on your silence if you choose not to testify.
Do you understand your right to remain silent?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Understanding all of these rights, is it
your decision to waive them in order to plead guilty to.this
entering a bank with intent to steal éharge?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And are'you waiving all of your rights
freely and voluntarily?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: Very well.

Tell me what happened?

MR. SORENSON: Thank you. May it please the Court, Your
Honor.

This offense occurred back on the afternoon of December
28, 2010 at the South Carolina State Credit Union, located
at 181 Boulevard Avenue here in Orangeburg.

An individual came in, presented a firearm and ended up
taking cash and fleeing the bank. It was on video, he did
not have his face concealed. We received some stills from
that video that are consistent with Mr. Boykins facial
features and physical size.

The investigation, at that point in time, they did not
have a suspect initially. His name was ultimately given to
law enforcement in February of 2011, about two months later.
When an individual came forward, by the name of Travis Gréen
who gave a statement that he knew this defendant énd had had
some conversations with him shortly afterward where he had
admitted to the bank robbery. This was kind of spurred froﬁ
Mr. Green seeing the stills in the paper and recognizing Mr.
Boykins. Ultimately, he provided information that Mr.
Boykins was down in Georgia, at that point in time. They
put him in a lineup and he was identified by one of the
tellers inside the bank as being the individual. Law

énforcement obtained warrants for him on March 11, 2011. He
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State v. Boykins 2/11/13 : 8
was put into NCIC. He was ultimately picked up and ‘brought
back here to Orangeburg and the warrant was served on him on
August'8, 2011. He has been incarcerated since that time.

THE COURT: What he said happened, is that accurate to
the facts that are supporting this plea?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Have you been promised anything to get you
to plead guilty other than a reduction in the charge, armed
robbery, not pleading to that. Entering a bank or a savings
and loan with intent to steal. is the charge you’re pleading
to. It’s my understanding the state is making a
recommendation that you be incarcerated seven years;. is that
right?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Other than that recommendation, have you
been coerced or threatened by anybody to get you to plead
guilty?

MR. BOYKINS: No, sir.

THE COURT: Any other recommendatiqns oY promises been
made to you?

MR. BOYKINS: No, sir.

THE COURT: There is —-- is this entering a bank with
intent to steal; is it. a serious crime?

MR. WISE: It is, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So it carries 20?
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MR. SORENSON: It carries up to 30.

THE COURT: So it’s 85 percent charge?

MR. SORENSON: Right. 1It’s 85 percent.

THE COURT: You understand this being a serious offense
it’s going to create a record for you for a conviction on
this offense, which is a serious classification, that being,
this will count as a strike against you in the scheme of
three strikes you’re out or two big strikes you’re out. Are
you familiar with that serious classification of convictions
which you are putting this on your record, have you had that
told to you by your attorney? |

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you understand this.will be a conviction.
It appears you don’t have any other prior serious offenses
on your record. This will be strike one. Behavior like
this continues it will catch up to you and you can bé
subject to a life withoﬁt pa:ole sentence in the future if
behavior continues of this type. Do you.understand? |

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Eventually, you’ll do 85 percent of whatever
sentence the Court imposes and you’re not eligible for
parole; ao you understand-that?

'MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I think you’re eligible for community

supervision which is similar but not parole; do you
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State v. Boykins 2/11/13 10
understand?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Understanding that you will not be entitled
to certain programs in the Department of Corrections because
of your conviction of a serious offense, do you stiil want
to plead guilty?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Now, have you had enough time to discuss
this matter with your lawyer?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has he got a copy of the state’'s
investigatory file transmitted to you; has he gone over that
with you?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Have you understood your conversations witﬁ“
him?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: He’s answered all your questions apd you
understand what’s going on?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: How far did you go in school?

MR. BOYKINS: 11 grade, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. Did you go to school around here?

MR. BOYKINS: No, sir.

THE COURT: Where did you grow up?
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MR. BOYKINS: New York, Syracuse.
THE COURT: How in the world did you end up down south?

MR. BOYKINS: I had a lot of family down here, sir.

THE COURT: All right. Fair enough. Now, understanding

your rights as I explained to you earlier, you waived your
right of presentment to the Orangeburg Grand Jury by
initialing in that little line right there; do you
understand?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Was your wavier of presentment to the
Orangeburg Grand Jury freely and voluntarily given?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You can ask your lawyer, Mr. Wise. If
you’ve got any questions about the wai&er you can ask him
right now and it won’t cost you anything extra.

MR. BOYKINS: I understand.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, are you pleading guilty before
me today to entering a bank with intent to steal from
therein today freely and voluntarily?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you enfering that plea because you are,
in fact, guilty of committing that offense?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you need any more time to talk with your

lawyer before I go forward?
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MR. BOYKINS: Oh, vyes, sir.

"THE COURT: Are you satisfied with the advice and
counsel he’s given you in regard to this charge?

MR. BOYKINS: Excuse me?

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with his advice and
counsel with regard to this charge?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: He’s done you a good job?

MR. BOYKINS: Yes. ‘

THE COURT: Very well. All right. Regarding Indictment
2011-GS-38-1722, I find that Dyzshon Rakeem Antonio'Boykins;
has made a free, knowingvand intelligent waiver of
presentment to the Orangeburg Granleury. Additionally,
he’s made a free, knowing and intelligent plea of guilt to
the offense of entéring a bank with the intent to steal
therefrom. He’s entered his plea and waiver with advice of
counsel, an attorney of whom he states on the record while
under cath that he is satisfied. Also the state has
provided ample facts upon which to base this plea.

All right. Mr. Wise.

MR. WISE: Thank Ycur Honor. Please the Court.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. WISE: A few preliminary matters. One additional
consideration in Mr. Boykins entering this plea ﬁoday was

the fact that he was allowed to plea to a non-violent
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offense, so although it is a serious offense, that was one
of the things that factored into his decision to plead
gquilty. -We obviously recognize the sentence is from zero to
30 years and it’s our request that the Court consider a
minimal sentence in this case and I will give you the
reasons why we ask for that. And when I'm done, Your Honor,
Mr. Boykins may want to speak briefly.

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. WISE: A little bit about what happened based on my
investigation of this, and I have looked at the police
reports and looked at the photos that were referenced. No
one was injured in this, there were no sho£s fired in the
bank. The gun was not used in a threatening manner, and
what I mean by that is when you look at the photos yoﬁ-dén’t
see a gun being pointed at the face or at the head of
anybody in the bank. I don’t think the state’s indicated,
but Mr. Boykins record consist of a prior drug offénée; |

THE COURT: I saw that on my sheet.

MR. WISE: Okay. Very good. A little background about
Dyzshon. He is 23 years old. He has a five year old -
daughter. He was enrolled in Atlanta Tech. He was'going
for his GED. He was living there with his father. At tﬁe
time he was working -- at the time of the his arrest he was
working at Zaxby’s in Decatur, Georgia. 1I’ve been meeting

with Mr. Boykins now, well over a year. I find him to be a
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smart young man. He -- in talking a little bit about his

.background he informs me he was in gifted classes in school,

and as I indicated, he was at a college trying to get his
GED. The issue then becomes why would something like this
happens. As his’recofd indicates there came a point in time
when Mr. Boykins developed a problem with drugs, and I think
that’s what kind of led him away from the life that he
recognizes he can have.

Mr. Boykins, in spite of how it appears today, has a
lot of support from his family. His father lives in
Atlanta. That’'s where he was living when he was arrested,‘;
with his father. His step-mother is in Atlanta with his.
father. His mother lives here. She was going to be heré;
but she is in Syracuse, so she couldn’t be here, but I think
-- and this kind of came up on short notice. If we’d had
more time you would have seen hisAfather, step—mothér'andi
his mother standing ﬁere. So I bring that to the éourt’é
attention so that the Court does understand that he does
have a iot of support that will help him get his life on
track when he gets out of jail.

He’s been in jail since July 27. He was arrested in
Georgia and then he was extradited here. He got here iﬁ'
August.

The other thing that he indicated, and I think he ﬁeans

this when he says it, he has the ability, given his
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education and given his intellect, to go out and become well
employed. If the Court wants to make any condition of his
sentence, restitution, he’s willing to pay the restitution
for what was taken.

So given his lack of any crimes of violence and weapons
and assault behavior, we’d like the Court to consider a much
lower sentence than seven years.

I think his being in jail as long as he has has gotten
his attention. Obviously, he is now free of drugs, so
that’s not going to be an issue. He does have family
support and as I've indicéted I’ve talked to all his family‘
and they all support him. I think he is an appropriate
person for the Court to consider going below the -
recommendation and we’d ask the Court to do that.

May 1 have one moment?

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. WISE: And Mr. Boykins would like to —-

THE COURT: Be glad to hear from him.

MR. BOYKINS: Well, you know, first I'm a man of God;
Your Honor. You know, I was raised in the church. I got
good supporting family. There are a lot of things I was --
in my adolescent days when I was younger, it came-back on
me, you know. So, you know, the things I did when:i was
young, you know, it’s coming back -- it’s back biting me,

and, you know, I got plans when I get out of here. I plan
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to get into the'military soon as I step out of there, you
know, no more than two or three months I can get into the
military. I just ask you to find it upon your heart to be
lenient on me, you know. Due to my lack of backgréund, you
know. That’s all.

THE COURT: All right.

Anything from state?

MR. SORENSON: No, sir.

THE COURT: All right. Anything else from anybody?

MR. WISE: No, Yoﬁr Honor. Not from the defendant.

THE COURT: All righf. I accept- the plea. "Sentence of
the Court, considering thé negotiation down from armed
robbery withdrawing that mandatbry minimum the Court will
sentence.Mr. Boykins to the Department of Corrections to-a
term of seven years, giving credit for all the days he's
done to date.

i noticed on the sentence sheet, someone checked obtain
GED. I'm certain you’ll be able to do that. From the
comments made you appear Véry intelligent, so it shouldn’t
be any problem at all, and if it’s available and if you want

it I'm going to recommend you get referral to the ATU while

‘at Department of Corrections. If it’s not available, I

don’t know the facility you’re going to, but if it’s not
available then you won’t have to do it.. It’s not a

mandatory -- it’s a suggestion.
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MR. BOYKINS: Thank you, sir.

THE COURT: Good luck to you.

MR. SORENSON: Thank Your Honor.

(This proceeding was concluded.)

17
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C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E
I, THE UNDERSIGNED HILDA M. JORDAN, CVR-M, OFFICIAL COURT
REPORTER FOR THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF THE STATE OF
SOUTH CAROLINA, DO AEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING IS A
TRUE, ACCURATE AND COMPLETE TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD OF THE PLEA
IN THE CAPTIONED CAUSE, IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS FOR
ORANGEBURG COUNTY, SOUTH CARCLINA, ON THE 11 DAY OF
FEBRUARY, 2013.:
I DO FURTHER CERTIFY THAT I AM NEITHER OF KIN, COUNSEL,

NOR INTEREST IN ANY PARTY HERETO.

: "/WWOQ_%MV

Hilda M. Jordan, CVR-M

September 13, 2014
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State éon'ci-sélf_ and in-ﬁlé same order the facts which support each of the grounds set out .

~in (10) 'Ccmc&v\ vent)
I @———— ,

®
(c)

12.  Prior to this application have you filed with respect to this conviction:
(a)  any petition in a State Court under South Carolina Law? _NO
(b)  any petition in State or Federal Courts fof habeas corpus or post-convictions

relief? _ad- a
(c):  any petition in the Unfted States Supreme Court for certiorart other than petitiohs,
- if any, already spemﬁed in (8)? _0Q

@ . Aany other petitions, motlons or applications in this or any other Court? _gl_

13.

If you answered “yes” to any part of (12), list with respect to each petmon, motion.or
application: | -

(a) the specific nature thereof: .

i Md'hcr\ +o € ZAuSR

.
iii.

iv.

- (b) - the.name- and locatlon of the Court in which each was filed:

i _@(mgzb (o_.,\b Cj.a_r[( o Coff" d@’f&g_

u e N U ”’8‘1"""3 3¢y 2,%/&

- (© the dJSpOSlthIl thereof
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'(d) - the date of each such disposition:

Lo ——APKC’[)Q'\{JZ'OW

il
mi. . -
iv: i

(e) if known, citations of any written opinions or orders entered pursuant to each such

disposition:
i I 212 ..o.(){g\ ]CQPLLQ
.
mi.
1v.

14.  Has any ground set forth in (10) been previously presented to this or any other Court,
| State or Federal, in any petition, motion or application which you have filed?

15.  If you answered yes” to ( 14) identify: .

(@)  which grounds have been presented r\or\ - ‘1\050) ! C‘z"bl'&

i.
il .
RSV

(b)  the proceedings in which each ground'_was .raised:_

i.
ii.
iii.

o '16.  Ifany ground set foxth in (10) has fiot prev1ously been presented to any Court State or
o Federal, set forth the ground and state concxsely the reasons why such ground has not |
~ previously been presented :
@ Vs’ :Cemm Jre J/hu@ds
--..;"';:i<<_=")'tf-i-i N R

" Were you represeritex

e during the course of:

* "Revised 3/2003 "
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18.

19. .

- 20.

your arraignment and pléa? ____ ésZS S
‘®) - yourtral, if ay?__ e~ a?Pi1cmu'(
) ' © your sentencxng'7___ ue 3 _
(d) B your appea] if any, from the Judgment of convxctlon or the 1rnposmon of
. sentence? NN )ahc.ov!aU
e) preparation; presentationrorconsideratiorrof any petitions; motions or appiications

with respect to this conviction, which you filed? Do

If you answered “yes” to one or more parts of (17), list:

@

1.

ii.

il

(b)

i

Ii..

i,

the name and address of each attorney who represented you:

___Marll Wise ’P‘o'ch Qaco Cm?bug SC QW/Q

the proceedings at which each such attomey. represented you:

affagnww\»@-
’~Pl~€°—\

_~ ____Senkenci ~

State clearly the rehef you seek in filing this application:
. Senknce Cedueion / a\éJuaJ-mar\% o Sen+enu®

Are you now under sentence from any other court that. you have not challenged')

O
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* STATE OF SOUTH CARODINA

County of C) (\C\f\gﬂzjd/\g

,I, .

VERIFICATION
) ..

, being duly swormn upon my oath, depose and say that [ have subscribed to the foregomg
application; that I know the conterits thereof; that it.includes every ground known to mhe for

vacating, setting aside or correcting the conviction and sentence attacked in this application; and

that the matters and allegations therein set f% ;
- ) :

=
SWORN to and subscribed before me this 25
day of Vnce ,201Y .
l{ ZU; e EUP}-MM (L.S)
Notary Public .

| My Cormnission-Expi_resv: l”g ? Q g Fé{aa’ll

P T
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APPLICATION TO PROCEED WITHOUT PAYMENT
OF COSTS AND AFFIDAVIT
. IN SUPI_’ORT TI-IEREOF

I, , hereby.apply for leave to proceed in this action without prepayment of fees or costs or .
. security therefor In support of my application I declare under penalty of pérjury that the
following facts are true:

(1)  Iam the applicant in this action and I believe I am entitled to redress.

(2)  Because of my poverty I am unable to pay the costs of said proceeding or give
security thereof.

SWORN or affirmed to and subscribed before h)e this
day of . une_ 200

U/g&mu-— Q U’pl.w»vv\ .
NotalyPubhc } -

My Commission Expires: m Q‘[ (Q,O (Q 02 ]
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
' C.A. No. 2014-CP-38-00798

COUNTY OF ORANGEBURG

Dyzshon R. Boykins,
S.C.D.C. No. 354347,

Applicant,

RETURN AND PARTIAL MOTION
v. TO DISMISS ‘ '
State of Soﬁth Carolina,

Respondent.

In response to the post-conviction relief application filed June 30, 2014, the Respondent
would show this Court:

L

Applicant is incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to
the Orangeburg County Clerk of Court’s orders of commitment. The Orangeburg County Grand
Jury indicted the Applicant at the November 2011 term of General Sessions for Armed Robbery
(2011-GS-38-1722) and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime
(2011-GS-38-1 723). Mark Wise, Esquire represented the Applicant on these charges.

On February 11, 2013, pursuant to negotiations, Applicant waived presentment to the
grand jury and pleaded guilty to Entering a Bank With Intent to Steal (2011-GS-38-1722). The
Hono;able Euguene C. Griffith accepted the parties’ negotiations and sentenced Applicant to
seven (7) years’ imprisonment. The Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a
Violent Crime charge was nolle prossed. Applicant did not appeal his plea or sentences.

Attached herewith and incorporated herein by reference are the records of the

Page 1 of 4
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Orangeburg County Clerk of Court regarding the subject convictions, the Applicant’s records
from the South Carolina Department of Corrections, and the guilty plea transcript.
IL.
In his application for post-conviction relief, the Applicant alleges he is being held in

custody unlawfully for the following reason:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel.
a. Failed to assist Applicant prepare a defense for trial
b. Misrepresented the total incarceration time Applicant would serve
by pleading guilty
c. “Was never informed or enlightened about an appeal.”
I1.

Respondent submits this Application for post-conviction relief should be summarily
dismissed for failure to comply with the filing procedures of the Uniform Post-Conviction
Procedure Act. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-27-10, et. seq. (2003). South Carolina Code Ann. § 17-
27-45(a) reads as follows:

An application for relief filed pursuant to this chapter must be filed within one

year after the entry of a judgment of conviction or within one year after the

sending of the remittitur to the lower court from an appeal or the filing of the final

decision upon an appeal, whichever is later.
Applicant pled guilty to the offenses he challenges in this Application on February 11, 2013.
Applicant was therefore required to file his application before February 12, 2014. This
Application was filed on June 20, 2014, which was after the statutory filing period had expired.

A motion for summary judgment may properly be used to raise the defense of statute of

limitations. See McDonnell v. Consolidated Sch. Dist. of Aiken, 315 S.C. 487, 489, 445 S.E.2d

638, 639 (1994). In addition, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-70(c) (2003) authorizes the Court to
“grant a motion by either party for summary disposition of [an] application when it appears from

Page 2 of 4
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the pleadings . . . that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law.” Therefore, the Respondent requests that this Court summarily
dismiss the application for post conviction relief for failure to file within the time mandated by
the Post-Conviction Procedure Act.

Iv.

Plea counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an
appeal only when there is reasoh to think either: (1) that a rational defendant would want to
appeal or (2) that this defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in
appealing. Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 480, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 1036 (2000). In order to
make this determination, “cburts must take into account all thé information counsel knew or

should have known.” Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690, 104 S. Ct. 2052,

2066 (1984)). Although not determinative, a highly relevant factor will be whether the
conviction follows a trial or a guilty plea, both because a guilty plea reduces the scope of
potentially appealable issues and because a plea may indicate the defendant seeks an end to
judicial proceedings. Id. There being nothirg in the record to indicate that Applicant reasonably
demonstrated to plea counsel that he was interested in appealing, Respondent submits that the
allegation is totally without merit and should be dismissed.

Respondent submits the allegation probably raises questions of fact that cannot be
conclusively refuted by the record. Respondent requests an evidentiary hearing to fully resolve
this issue. See Sharper v. State, 279 S.C. 264, 265, 305 S.E.2d 247, 248 (1983).

V.
The Respondent denies each allegation not expressly admitted, qualified or explained.

~ Page 3 of 4
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V1.
WHEREFORE, the Respondent requests that: (1) a hearing be held solely on the issue of
whether thie Applicant is entitled to a review of his direct appeal. issues pursuant to White v.

Staie, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974) and (2) all other issues be dismissed as having been

alleged after the expiration of the one-year statute of limitations.
Respectfully submitted,

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General,

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Deputy Attorney General

J.CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11349
Coluinbia, S.C. 29211

By: S —

Attorneys for Respondent

February L0 2015
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
- ) IN'THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF ORANGEBURG )
)
) 2014-CP-38-00798
)
DYZSHON R. BOYKINS, #354347 )
' \ )
Applicant, )
)
¥S ) AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE BY MAIL
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, )
)
Respondent. )
)
1. I am an ¢mplovee of the Respondent in the abovc.—cqpli‘oncd_ action,
2. Regular communication by mail éxists thioughout the. State of South.Carolina-and that this
is a proper circimstance.of service by mail. -
3: I have this day served a-copy of the Return and Partial Motion to Dismiss in the

above-captioned -matter on the following person by depositing same in the United States mail,
postagé prepaid:

Jonathan D. Waller, Esquire

The Law Office of Jonathan Waller, LLC
1720 Main Street, Suite 104

Columbia, SC 29201.

DATED this 20" day-of*February, 2015..

Apraesnys
Sara Moore, Legal Assistant
For Respondent
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF ORANGEBURG

DYZSHON R. BOYKINS

VS.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

BETFORE:

COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

2014-CP-38-00798

TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD

MAY 22, 2015
ST. GEORGE, SC

THE HONORABLE MAITE MURPHY

APPEARANTCE S:

JONATHAN D. WALLER,

ESQUIRE

Attorney for the Applicant

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL,

ESQUIRE

Attorney for the Respondent

Ruth L. Mott, RPR, CRR
Certified Court Reporter

™
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WITNESS

DYZSHON BOYKINS
MR. WALLER
MR. MITCHELL

MARK WISE

MR. MITCHELL

MR. WALLER

DYZSHON BOYKINS
MR. WALLER
MR. MITCHELL

MARK WISE
MR. MITCHELL
MR. WALLER
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MR. MITCHELL: Good morning, Your Honor, may it please
the Court. This is Dyzhon Boykins versus the State of South
Carolina, Case No. 2014-CP-38-0798. He was indicted in
November of 2011 for armed robbery and possession of a weapon
during the commission of a violent crime. He was represented
on these charges by Mr.. Mark Wise. Mr. Boykins plead guilty
on February 11, 2013, pursuant to negotiations. He waived
presentment to an entering a bank with intent to steal
charge., Judge Griffith accepted the negotiations and
sentenced him to seven years' imprisonment. The possession
of a weapon during the commissién of a violent crime was
nolle-prossed. He did not appeal this sentenée or
conviction.

Mr. Boykins filed this application on June 30th, 2014.
We filed a return to that earlier this year and a partial
motion to dismiss since it was filed éutside the one-year
statute of limitations. He plead in February of 2013. This
was filed in June of 2014. He also alluded to an issue of or
an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for
failing to file an appeal on his behalf, so we are prepared
to go forward on that, but we ask that the Court dismiss all
other allegations at this point.

THE COURT: Do you have a packet for me?

MR. MITCHELL: ©Oh, I'm sorry, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That's okay.
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Mr. Waller?

MR. WALLER: Thank you, Your Honor. With respect to the
motion to dismiss, Mr. Boykins alleges that while he was in
SCDC he was unable to get together the documentation
necessary to file the PCR application because of various
lock-downs while he was in there. I would like to take some

testimony from him if possible, and also we can.handle the

‘White v. State issue as well. We can probably just put him

up ocne time as opposed to the two times we did earlier this
week. |

THE COURT: Sure, that's fine.

MR. WALLER: So I would call Dyzshon Boykins.

DYZSHON BOYKINS,

beipg first duly swérn, was examined and testified as
.foliows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER:
Q. Good morning, Mr. Boykins.
A. Good morning.
Q. Mr. Boykins, when you plead guilty, where did you go
immediately éfter.that?
A. Kirkland.
Q. How long were you in Kirkland?
A. About 40 days.
0. If you would, can you describe a little bit of the --

what access you have to certain things in Kirkland?
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DYZSHON BOYKINS - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER 5
A. Well, we have no access to law library, and we have

actually no access to anything. " It's just lock down 23 hours
out the day, and we attend breakfast, lunch and dinner,
that's it.
Q. Okay. What kind of personal items and stuff can you
have in your cell with you?
A. Nothing but whatever they issue to us as far as hygiene.
0. Okay. Do you have access to an application for
post-conviction relief?

No.

Do you have pen and paper?

Yes.

To Ridgeland.

A.
Q.
a
Q. When you left Kirkland, where did you go?
A
Q Where is Ridgeland located?

A

Jasper County.

Q. When you got to Ridgeland, what was your custody status,
I guess?

A MI-2.

Q. Can you explain what that means?

A MI-2 is, according to SCDC policy, it's like a level

two. You're restricted in the fence. You can't go outside
the fence, and it's like -- they put me in ME dorm as soon as
I got there, as far as like -- when I got to the dorm, the

dorm was already on lockdown due to a riot that had happened
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DYZSHON BOYKINS -~ DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER 6

before I got there. They was already down for seven months,
so it was like I couldn't go in the yard, I couldn't leave

the dorm, I couldn't even leave my room.

Q. Did you have access to the law library during that time?
A, No.
Q. Did you have access to an application for

post-conviction relief during that time?

A. No. |

Q. How long was that lockdown, that first lockdown when you
were there?

A. About three months.

0. Were there any other lockdowns while you've been at
Ridgeland?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was‘the date of the next one?

A. The next date was May 13th, 2013; and that was 50 days'
lockdown due to the reconstruction of the kitchen, so they
didn't let nobody on the yard, and they just kept everybody

in the dorm.

Q. During that time did you have access to the law library?
A, No, sir.
Q. Did you have access to an application for

post-conviction relief?
A. No, sir.

Q. During the gap of time where you weren't on lockdown,
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DYZSHON BOYKINS - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER

what did you have access to?
A. Nothing. I was in my room.
Q. Okay. When you weren't on lockdown, though, were you

able to go to the law library?

A, No -- oh, when I wasn't on lockdown?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How long were you not on lockdown that first time?

A. Well, the first time that I wasn't on lockdown was three

months after I was on Ridgeland, and I wasn't aware of a PCR

because I wasn't advised by my lawyer that I had when I plead

with Mr. Wise.

Q. So three months after you had been at Ridgeland would
have been about four and a half months after you initially
plead; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were there any other lockdowns while you were at
Ridgeland until February 1llth of 20142

A. Yes, February -- January, actually, 2014 a gun was
discovered on the yard, and they locked the whole yard down
for two months.

Q. Okay. And what was the date of that you said?

A. January, from January to February.

Q. Okay. So during the deadline of your filing a PCR

application within the statute of limitations.
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. DYZSHON BOYKINS - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER 8

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have there been any other lockdowns during that first
oﬁe—year time period?

A. No, just those three occasions, that was it.

Q. Okay. And during those occasions did you have access to

an application for post-conviction relief?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you have access to a law library?

A. No,usir. A

Q. Turning back to your guilty plea for just a second, you

plead quilty. Did you indicate to Mr. Wise that you did not
want to appeal?
A. No. I wasn't aware of appeal. I never knew what appeal
was.
Q. Did you and Mr. Wise have any conversations about an
appeal before you plead guilty?
A. No, sir.
Q. Do you recall any time when Mr. Wise would have told you
that you would have had ten days to appeal?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you and Mr. Wise ever have any conversations about
appealing from your conviction?
A. No, sir.

MR. WALLER: I have no further questions. Please answer

any questions Mr. Mitchell might have.
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DY2ZSHON BOYKINS - CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MITCHELL

THE COURT: Cross-examination.
CROSS~-EXAMINATION BY MR. MITCHELL:
0. Good morning, Mr. Boykins.
A. Good morning.
Q. You plead from armed robbery to entering a bank with

intent to steal; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you got a seven-year sentence on that; is that
right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, let's see, you don't have any competency problems,
do you?

A. No, sir.

Q. You never have had any competency problems, have you?
A. No, sir.

0. You seem to be a pretty bright guy.

A. Thank you.

Q. So you never filed anything with the Court relating to
PCR until you filed this application; is that right?

A. Well, this motion to egcuse, that was it.

Q. Okay. Nothing was filed -- no application was filed.
A. No, sir.

Q. Okay. Did you -- you never told Mr. Wise that you
wanted to appeal your sentence after you were sentenced, did

you?
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DYZSHON BOYKINS - CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MITCHELL 10

A. No, sir.
MR. MITCHELL: Okay. No further questions. Thank you.
THE COURT: Anything further?
MR. WALLER: Just very briefly, Your Honor.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER:
Q. Mr. Boykins, you mentioned a motion to excuse that you
filed. What was that?
A, Well, according to, well, the information I got from the
law clerk, he —-- he advised me to file for a motion to excuse
because of all of the time that I was locked down, the whole
seven months that I got tooken away from me to file for PCR,
so he told me to file for motion to excuse, and I just filed
for it, hopihg that I would get some more time to file my
PCR.
Q. So you filed that trying to get an extension of the
one-year timeline?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How long after you came off of the last lockdown,

lockup, did you file that?
A. Probably two months, three months or something like
that.
Q. Did you file it as quickly as you could?
A. Yes, sir.
MR. WALLER: No further questions.

THE COURT: You may step down, sir. Thank you.
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Any other witnesses?

MR. WALLER: No additional witnesses.

THE COURT: Mr. Mitchell?

MR. MITCHELL: Your Honor, State calls Mr. Mark Wise.

MARK WISE,

being first duly sworn, was examined and testified as
follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MITCHELL:
Q. Good morning, Mr. Wise.
A. Good morning.
Q. Can you give me a brief rundown of your background and
employment currently?
A. I'm currently employed by the First Circuit Public
Defender's Office in the Orangeburg office.
Q. And you were appointed to represent Mr. Boykins through

that position?

A. I was.

Q. Did you advise Mr. Boykins that he had a right to appeal
from the guilty plea?

A. I don{t believe I did.

Q. Is it your normal practice to do so on guilty pleas?
A. I don't know that it is my normal practice when we
have -- when you have a case that's resolved and it seems to

go according to what was discussed and what we wanted to see

happen, I don't know that I would.
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MARK WISE - DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MITCHELL 12
Q. So this was a -- if not quite a negotiated, it was

definitely a recommendation from the State; is that correct?

aA. That's correct.

Q. It was a seven-year sentence?
A. That's correct.

Q. Plead down from armed robbery?
A. That's correct.

Q. So you believed this to be a favorable plea offer to Mr.
Boykins?
A. Well, it is -- it was agreeable to Mr. Boykins when
we -- when we did it. We talked about the plea and we
started negotiations, and we got to the point where that's
what was béing offered; and there was a higher offer and plea
to armed robbery for more time, and so we had a couple of
rounds of negotiations, and we finally got to this point.
Q. Did you see any reason to file a notice of appeal after
the guilty plea?
A. . No.
Q. Did you make any objections during the hearing?
A. The plea?
Q. During the plea hearing, yes, sir.
A. No.

. MR. -MITCHELL: No further questions. Please answer
anything Mr. Waller has for you. |

THE COURT: Mr. Waller.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

\ew’ e’/
MARK WISE - CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER 13

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER:
Q. Mr. Wise, you testified that you did not discuss an
appeal with Mr. Boykins. Was that before or after his plea?
A. I don't know that we actually ever discussed an appeal.
Q. Did you notice during the plea hearing that Judge
Griffith did not mention to Mr. Boykins that he had ten days
to appeal the decision?
A. No.
Q. If you had noticed that, would you have discussed it
with Mr. Boykins?
A. In this case I don't know that I would have. I might
have, but I don't know.
Q. So it is entirely understandable that Mr. Boykins may
not have known he had a right to an appeal at all?
A. Absolutely.

MR. WALLER: No further questions.

THE COURT: You may step down, sir. Thank you.

THE WITNESS: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Anything further?

MR. MITCHELL:_ Your Honor, if I can make a brief
argument in support of the motion to dismiss.

" THE COURT: Certainly.

MR. MITCHELL: It is filed outside the one-year statute

of limitations. The tolling South Carolina courts recognize

is due to incompetence. I think, as you see, Mr. Boykins is
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exceptionally competént, and he understood the situation,
just did not file it within one year.

As far as the belated appeal issue, pursuant to Roe v.
Flores-Ortega, counsel only has a duty to advise of an appeal
if a defendant -- if a rational defendant would want to
appeal that sentence or if the defendant indicated to counsel
that he wanted to appeal, so he has no duty to advise of an
appeal per se, and we'd ask that you deny on that ground as
well.

THE COURT: Mr. Waller.

MR. WALLEk: Your Honor, Jjust briefly with respect to
the motion to dismiss, while I understand the State's
position that Mr. Boykins was competent throughout the entire
time, he was physically precluded from -- prohibited from
being able to file anything. He was on lockdown not --
without access to the actual application itself. It is -- I
don't think it's reasonable to expect someone to be able to
file something that they don't physically have access to or
be able to actually file it, so we would ask you to deny the
motion to dismiss based on those grounds.

THE COURT: Based‘upon the tgstimony and the recorq, I
am going to deny the motion to dismiss. It appears that he
was not advised of his right to appeal by either the Court or
his attorney, so I will grant the motion -- not grant the

motion to dismiss.
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MR. WALLER: Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. MITCHELL: Your Honor, just for clarity, is that on
the White ground or would it be on all allegations raised?

THE COURT: Pardon me?

MR. MITCHELL: Would that be just to the White claim or
to all the allegations raised in the application?

THE COURT: And then the other allegation was, what else
is he alleging.

MR. WALLER: Your Honor, we, we never got there.

THE COURT: Right. Based upon his inability to have
access and he wasn't properly advised, so now he can proceed
on his other claims, on his ineffective assistance claim.

MR. WALLER: Thank you, Your Hénor. I would call
Dyzshon Boykins.

DYZSHON BOYKINS,
being previously duly sworn, testified as follows:
FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER:
Q. Good morning again, Mr. Boykins. Mr. Boykins, when were
you arrested on the armed robbery and possession of a weapon
during a.violenticrime charges?
A. July 27, 2011.
Q. And how soon after you were arrested were you -- did you
get a lawyer?
A. Probably about the end of August of that year.

Q. Okay. Where were you arrested?
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DYZSHON BOYKINS -~ FURTHER DIRECT BY MR. WALLER 16
A. Decatur County, Decatur, Georgia.
Q. Were you extradited back?

A. August 8, 2011.

Q. Okay. So you did not receive an attorney_until you got
back to South Carolina.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Who was your attorney?

A, Mark Wise.

Q. Was he appointed to you or did you hire him?

A. Appointed.

Q. How many times did you meet with Mr. Wise before you
plead gquilty?

A. I would say about six or seven times.

Q. Did you all talk about the charges, the armed robbery

and possession of a weapon charge?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you understand the penalties that those charges
carried? |

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you understand what the State would have to prove

against you to find you gquilty?

A. Not in full. I wasn't -- I wasn't aware of the -- how
can I say -—- I wasn't -- I was ignorant to the 1éw. I didn't
really know everything, like the collateral consequences of

the plea I was offered and everything. I didn't really know
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DYZSHON BOYKINS - FURTHER DIRECT BY MR. WALLER 17
everything.

Q. Did you and Mr. Wise discuss those collateral
consequences?

A. No.

Q. What conversations did you all have? You said you met

six or seven times. What did you all talk about?

A. Well, the first time I met him he explained to me the
charges being brought against me, and I just frankly told him
that I wanted to go to trial, and that's what I kept telling
him every time I came up there to see him.

Q. Okay. When you all were discussing your case, did you
provide him with any information that would have helped him
defend you?

A. Yes.

Q. What did you tell him?

A. Alibis; my mom, my step-mom, my dad.

Q. Okay. And that was after you told him you wanted to go
to trial?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know, to the best of your knowledge did he
contact any of those people?

A. Yes, he did.

Q. What was his response to contacting them?

A. Well, we —-— we didn't really go that far because after

those -- a year and a half, two years sitting in there, I
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DYZSHON BOYKINS -~ FURTHER DIRECT BY MR. WALLER 18
just kind of -- I just got -- it was too strenuous for me. I

wanted to go to trial, and I wasn't never getting a date; and
when I got my Rule 5, I mean, I -- I tried to build a defense
off -- you know, from just common knowledge of what I knew at
the time off my Rule 5, you know; but as far as all the work
he did, he didn't really do much.

Q. Why did you feel the need to try to build your own

defense?
A. Because I felt like he wasn't doing it.
Q. Okay. What conversations did you and Mr. Wise have that

ultimately led to your decision to plead guilty?
A. Just him, every time he pulled me up, he just had

offers, it was offers.

Q. Did you all discuss actually going to trial?
A. Yes.
Q. Did you all discuss the procedures that would take place

when you went to trial?

a. Not in detail.

Q. What do you feel that Mr. Wise could have done that he
did not do?

A. I believe that -- how can I say this? He could have did
more as far as, you know, got me a trial date because I just
was sitting in there. I never had a trial date, nothing.

Q. So you were locked up the whole time; you were not out

on bond.
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DYZSHON BOYKINS - FURTHER DIRECT BY MR. WALLER 19

A. Yes, sir.

Q. For how long?

A. About a year and a half.

Q. What was Mr. Wise's response to you continuously asking
him to get a trial date?

A. Well, he told me that -- he just was giving me the
chances of me winning the trial. That's all he would tell
me, the chances of me winning the trial according to, you
know, all the evidence that was given me at that time.

Q. But ultimately you decided to take one of the deals and
plead guilty; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why did you do that?

A. Because it just -- it was just too heavy on my family
and on me, you know, so it was like I just got tired; I just
plead out.

Q. Did you feel that he was ready to go to trial for you?
A. No.

Q. If you had felt that he was ready and had gotten a trial
date, would you have still plead guilty?

a. Yes, sir, I would have proceed.

Q. With the trial or pleading guilty?l

A. The trial.

Q. Okay. Mr. Boykins, I've asked all the questions that I

have. Is there anything else that I've forgotten or left out
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recording of the incident; is that right?

a. Yes, sir.
Q. And there was no mask over the alleged person's face,
right?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. Which they alleged to be you.

A. Yes, sir.

e’ N’/

DYZSHON BOYKINS - FURTHER DIRECT BY MR. WALLER{ 20
that you think the Judge needs to be aware of about Mr.
Wise's representation of you?
A. | No, just if I would have got a trial, I would have
.proceeded. You know, if it wasn't for his, you know, his
information that he was giving me and, you know, his
insufficient counsel, I would have -- I would have went to
trial, I would have continued but...

MR. WALLER: Okay. ©No further questions. Thank you.

THE COURT: Cross-examination.
FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MITCHELL:
Q. Good morniné again, Mr. Boykins.
A. Good morning.
Q. So you would have gone to trial on the armed robbery
charge; is that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, the evidence against you, you -- there was a video

Q. Okay. And there were statements given by a Travis Green

that implicated you in there?
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DYZSHON BOYKINS - FURTHER CROSS BY MR. MITCHELL 21

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then there was a photo lineup that the teller picked
you out of; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, when you appeared before Judge Griffith, you told
him that you were satisfied with Mr. Wise and that you
believe he'd done a good job; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Also, when you were in front of Judge Griffith, you went

through and admitted your guilt to this crime; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. and that was in hopes to receive a lesser sentence?
A. Yes, sir.

MR. MITCHELL: No further questions. Thank you.
THE COURT: Anything further?
MR. WALLER: Just very briefly.
FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER:
Q. Mr. Boykins, did you and Mr. Wise discuss the lineup
that you were picked out of?
A. No.
Q. Did you all discuss the video and it being able to be
admitted at trial?
a. No.
Q. Did you all discuss the lineup being able to be admitted

at trial?
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DYZSHON BOYKINS - FURTHER REDIRECT BY MR. WALLER 22
a. No.
MR. WALLER: No further questions.
THE COURT: Thank you, sir. You may step down.
Any other witnesses?
'MR. WALLER: No further witnesses, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Mr. Mitchell?
MR. MITCHELL: State calls Mr. Mark Wise.
THE COURT: Mr. Wise, you're still under oath.
THE WITNESS: Thank you, ma'am.
MARK WISE,
being previously duly sworn, testified as follows:

FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MITCHELL:

Q. Good mgrﬁing,-Mr. Wise.
A. Good morning.
Q. So your meetings with Mr. Boykins, can you describe your

initial discussions with him?

A. Mr. Boykins had maintained from the beginning that he --
this was not him and that he wanted a trial. That's where we
started from.

Q. Okay. So you advised him of the charges against him and

the penalties that the charges carried?

A. Yes.
Q. Did you file a Rule 5 in this case?
A. We did.

Q. And did you review those discovery materials with Mr.
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Boykins?

A, I provided them to Mr. Boykins.

Q. Okay. So he would have known about the evidence against
him that the State was prepared to go to trial on?

A. I believe so.

Q. And did you review that with him as well?

A. The evidence that the State would use?

Q. Yes. I guess like specifically the video, the lineup.
A. We talked about -- we would have talked about what the
State would try to use to have him convicted, yes.

Q. Okay. How did the plea negotiations go? I know you
mentioned that a bit earlier.

A. Sure. Obviously he was charged with armed robbery.
According to my notes, November 28th of, I guess it was 2012,
the solicitor made an offer of a ten to fifteen-year sentence
on that. Mr. Boykins was not interested in that, and I told
the solicitor, based on my conversation with Mr. Boykins,
that Mr. Boykins indicated he would not plead to anything
except probation. And then on the 29th of December the
solicitor indicated that he would talk to public safety and
see if Mr. Boykins could plead guilty to entering a bank with
intent to steal, and obviously then he came back and
indicated that that was possible. That was the plea
negotiations.

Q. Okay. And then they came back with another offer?
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MARK WISE - FURTHER DIRECT BY MR. MITCHELL 24
A. Yes, then they came back and said they would recommend a

seven-year sentence.

Q. And you asked for less than that at the sentencing
portion of the hearing.

a. I'1l have to look.

Q. The record will speaks for itself on that.

A. Okay.

Q. That's fine. Did Mr. Boykins bring an alibi defense to

your attention?

A, He had -- Mr. Boykins was in Georgia, and he was staying
between -- I think he might have gone out to see his father,
and I have -- I can look at my notes about this, but there

were people in Georgia that could have said he was in

Georgia.

Q. Did you look into those witnesses?
a. I spoke to -- may I have a moment?
Q. Sure.

A. I spoke to his stepmother, Tracy Wyble. I spoke to his
mother, but I don't think she would have been part of the
alibi. There was -- I spoke to his father. His father lived
in Decatur, Georgia.

Q. Was he able to provide you anything that approached an
alibi?

A. He said he was going to give me some information, but I

don't believe I ever received it. The issue was Mr. Boykins
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MARK WISE - FURTHER DIRECT BY MR. MITCHELL 25

was in Decatur and would have been working in Decatur, but it
wasn'tAvery -- we couldn't tie it, you know, really make it
more concrete, and that was some of the problem.

Q. Did you have discussions with him of the likelihood of
success if the case did go to trial?

A. With Mr. Boykins?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. No. My normal practice would be to discuss the evidence
with a client, but I would not be inclined to say, oh, if
this goes to trial, you're going to lose. You know, I
discuss the evidence, and I let the clients make the
determination how they want to proceed. I typically tell

them I will support them in whatever decision they make.

Q. If the case did go to trial and he chose not to accept
the offer --

A. Yes.

Q. -— would you have pursued this alibi defense further?
A. I don't know. I don't know the alibi would have worked

out, and_the issue was could we have, with some concreteness,
shown fhat he was in Decatur; Georgia, at ﬁhe time of the
robbery, so as I sit here now I don't know. I wasn't able to
nail that down before we entered into the plea.
MR. MITCHELL: Okay. No further questions. Thank you.
THE COURT: Your witness.

MR, WALLER: Thank you.
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MARK WISE - FURTHER CROSS BY MR. WALLER 26
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER:
Q. Mr. Wise, when were you appointed to represent Mr.
Boykins?
A. Looks like on or about August 17, 2011.
Q. And he plead guilty February 11, 2013; is that your
recollection?
A. Yes.
Q. So about 18 months later; is that right?
A. Okay.
Q. And you just testified that he always maintained that he
wanted a trial.
a. That's correct.
Q. And that he provided you with a potential alibi defense,
but you weren't able to nail it down within that 18 months.
A. That's correct.
Q. What changed from him always wanting a trial to deciding
to plead guilty?
A. I think he received an offer that he found acceptable.
0. Was there any discussions with the solicitor's office
about when the case was going to go to trial? |
A, Well, he went -- he was initially -- he initially went
in front of Judge Goodstein on January the 7th of 2013 to
enter a plea to entering a bank for a negotiated seven years.
Judge Goodstein rejected that plea. The case was then set

for trial, my notes indicate May the 6th of 2013. We then
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MARK WISE - FURTHER CROSS BY MR. WALLER 217
went back in front -- we went in front of Judge Griffith on

the 11th of January, same offer, and Judge Griffith accepted
the plea, so I guess the short answer is, looks like we would
have gone to trial May 6th.

Q. By Februéry 11th of 2013 how far along had you gotten in

your trial preparation?

A. How do you mean that?

Q. Had you begun preparing for an actual trial at that
point?

A. Well, we were -- yes, we were starting to -- I was

starting to do some work on getting the case ready for trial.
Q. How much of that work was devoted to preparing an alibi
defense?

A. Well, I spoke to his father, I spoke to his stepmother,
you know, had pretty good conversations with them; so, I
mean, if we were going to go to trial, we would do the best
we can with what we had regarding the alibi.

Q. Okay. You testified that in the prior 18 months you had
not been able to nail down his alibi. How would the next
three months until trial have been any different?

A. I don't know that for the entire 18 months I was trying
to nail down his alibi, and I don't have my notes for the
date that I spoke to his father, his stepmother, his mother,
but there came a point when I was more focused on Mr.

Boykins' case than other cases; and I can't tell you exactly
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when that happened, but if this was in January and we looked
at a trial in May, that's probably when -- once that

happened, I would have probably been very focused on...

Q. Did you ever file a notice of intent to present an alibi
defense?
A, No.

MR. WALLER: Beg the Court's indulgence.

(Brief pause.)

MR. WALLER: No further questions.

MR. MITCHELL: Nothing further from the State.

THE COURT: You may step down, Mr. Wise. Thank you.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

VTHE COURT: Any other witnesses?

MR. MITCHELL: No further witnesses.

THE COURT: The Court will review the record and take
the matter under advisement and notify you of the ruling.

MR. WALLER: Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. MITCHELL: Thank you, Your Honor.

--- END OF TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD =-~-
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF ORANGEBURG

I, the undersigned Ruth L. Mott, Certified Court
Reporter for the State of South Carolina, do hereby certify
that the foregoing is a true, accurate and complete
transcript of record of all the proceedipgs had and evidence
introduced in the matter of the above-captioned case,
relative to appeal, in the 1st Judicial Circuit Court for
Orangeburg County, South Carolina, on the 22nd of May, 2015.

I further certify that I am neither related to nor
counsel for any party to the cause pending or interested in
the events thereof.

February 5, 2016

Rt L. MET

Certified Court Reporter
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF ORANGEBURG FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
Dyzshon R. Boykins, #354347, 2014-CP-38-0798 .
Applicant, on=D =
ORDER OF DISM3S o] =3
ZRE @
v. e L)
| aF@=o- T
State of South Carolina, %ﬂg}’?, I
. el -
Respondent. 8523 2
N“ 2

This matter comes before the Court pursuant to an application for post-conviction relief

(PCR) filed June 30, 2014. Respondent made a Return and Partial Motion to Dismiss on
February 23, 2015, requesting that the action be dismissed as filed outside the statute of

limitations. Jonathan D. Waller, Esquire was appointed by the Orangeburg County Clerk of
Court. A hearing was held on May 22, 2015, at the Dorchester County Courthouse. Applicant

was present and represented by Counsel Waller. J. Clayton Mitchell, Esquire, of the South

Carolina Attorney General’s Office represented Respondent.

At the PCR hearing, Applicant testified on his own behalf. Also testifying was
Applicant’s plea counsel, Mark Wise, Esquire. This Court had before it the Orangeburg County
Clerk of Court records, Applicant’s South Carolina Department of Corrections records, the PCR

application, the Return, and the guilty plea transcript.

L PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Applicant is incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to
the Orangeburg County Clerk of Court’s orders of commitment. The Orangeburg County Grand
Jury indicted the Applicant at the November 2011 term of General Sessions for Armed Robbery A

© ATTEST: TRUE COPY
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(2011-GS-38-1722) and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime
(2011-GS-38-1723). Mark Wise, Esquire represented the Applicant on these charges.

On February 11, 2013, pursuant to negotiations, Applicant waived presentxﬂent to the
grand jury and pleaded guilty to Entering a Bank With Intent to Steal (2011-GS-38-1722). The:
Honorable Eugene C. Griffith accepted the parties’ negotiations and sentenced Applicant to
seven (7) years’ imprisonment. The Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a
Violent Crime charge was nolle prossed. Applicant did not appeal his plea or sentences.

In this action, Applicant alleges that he is being held in custody unlawfully for the
following reasons:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to advise of a right to appeal the
guilty plea; and
2. Involuntary guilty plea in that Applicant believed he had a viable alibi
defense.
III. APPLICABLE LAW

In a post-conviction relief action, Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in

the application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application

alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Applicant must prove that
"counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial

cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,

104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.‘

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation
within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counse]
rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable

professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. Applicant must overécjrhe this presumption in

. ATTEST:

order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). é() R
U’nlJﬂ, 3@, CM
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- Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of
counsel. Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. First, Applicant must prove counsel's performance was
deficient. Id. Under this prong, courts measure an attorney’s performance by its "reasonableness
under prevailing professiopal norms." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, any
deficient performance must have prejudiced Applicant such that "there is a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have
been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the
Applicant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he
would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S.
52, 59 (1985).

IV. FINDINGS OF ‘FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This Court has reviewed the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, observed the
witnesses presented at the hearing, passed upon their credibility, and weighed the testimony
accordingiy. Further, this Couﬁ has reviewed the Clerk of Court records regarding the subject
convictions, the guilty plea transcript, Applicant’s records from the South Carolina Department
of Corrections, the application for post-conviction relief, and the legal arguments made by the
attofn_eys. Puréuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (2003), this Court makes the following
findings of fact based upon all of the probative evidence presented. | | '

As a matter of general impression, this Court finds Applica.nt’s testimony and assertions
to be not credible. In contrast, this Court finds counsel’s testimony to be credible and persuasive
on all matters. These credibility findings have been applied to the Court’s findings and

conclusions set forth below. i —

State’s Motion to Dismiss ATTEST: TRUE COPy
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The State asked this Court to dismiss all issues except whether he is entitled to a review

of his direct appeal issues pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974)

because the application was filed outside of the statute of limitations. Applicant pleaded guilty
on February 11, 2013, and filed the application on June 20, 2014. This Court, first, heard
testimony regarding the issue of whether Applicant’s case should be dismissed as filed outside
the statute of limitations and whether he was entitled to a belated direct appeal of his guilty plea.
This Court denied the State’s motion to dismiss at the hearing.
Dyzshon Boykin's Testimony
Applicant testified he did not have access to a law library while incarcerated at Kirkiand
Correctional Institution. He testified he was in lockdown for twenty-three (23) hours a day and
that his meals were served in his cell. He testified he was not allowed to have anything in his cell
during this time. He testified he did not have an application for post-conviction relief but did
‘have pen and paper. He explained that he was then transferred to Ridgeland Correctional
Institution in Jasper County. He testified, while at Ridgeland, he again did not have access to an
applicétion for post-conviction relief and that he was on lockdown for months at a time where he
was unable to leave his room. He testified there was construction going on at the institution and
that he did not have access to an application. He explained that the prison was not on lockdown
during his entire stay and that he could go to the law library for around three (3) months but that
he was not aware of PCR at the time. He testified a gun was found in the yard and that the prison
was put on lockdown for two (2) months around the time the statute of limitations would run.
Applicant conceded he has not had any competency issues and has not received any

treatment for competency issues. He testified he did not file anything.with the court within one
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(1) year of his guilty plea. Applicant further testified he was not aware he could appeal from his
guilty plea. He testified Counsel did not discuss a right to appeal with him.
Counsel Mark Wise's Testimony

Counse! testified that he did not believe he advised Applicant of the right to appeal his
plea of guilty. He testified that Applicant pleaded to a negotiated sentence and that he did not see
any grounds for an appeal. He testified he did not believe he was under a duty to advise that
Applicant could file a PCR application.

Discussion

This Court denied the State’s motion for partial dismissal and allowed him to proceed to
a full evidentiary hearing. This Court found that Applicant was not barred by the statute of
limitations and that the time limits should be tolled due to Applicant’s circumstances of
incarceration. |

Further, Applicant has alleged that he is entitled to a belated review of direct appeal

issues pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974). Counsel has a
constitutionally-imposed duty to consult with a defendant about an appeal when there is reason
to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal, or (2) that this particular
defendant reasonably demonstrated t;) counsel that he was interested in appealing. Roe v. Flores-
Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 120 S. Ct. 1029 (2000). There was no evidence or testimony presented that
Applicant requested Counsel file an appeal on Applicant’s behalf or that there was a reason for
Counsel to believe that Applicant wanted to appeal the conviction or sentence. This Court finds
there is no merit to an appeal, notably because no objections were made. Therefore, this claim is
denied and dismissed

This Court will now address the allegation raised at the full evidentiary hearin
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Involuntary and Unintelligent Guilty Plea
Dyzshon Boykins 's Testimony

Applicant testified he was arrested mﬁ:m%e on August 8, 2011 and that Mark Wise was
appointed to represent him. He testified he was advised of the potential penalties relating to the
charges and thaf Counsel reviewed somé of What the State would need to prove in order for
Applicant to be convicted. He testified he provided Counsel with an alibi defense in that he was
in Georgia at the time of the incident. Applicant testified he attempted to contact witnesses and
build his own defense.

Applicant explained that he decided to plead guilty because he got tired. He' testified
Counsel advised him that the chances of winning at trial were not strong.

Counsel Mark Wise's Testimony

Counsel testified he advised Applicant of the charges against him and the penalties that
those charges carried. He reviewed the plea negotiations he had with the prosecuting solicitor
and testified that Applicant agreed to the negotiated deal that he ultimately entered into. As to the
alibi defense, he testified he spoke to Applicant’s father, mother, and other people who lived in
Georgia. He testified that the alibi did not come together, that it was not concrete, and that he
was unable to nail it down. He testified that he investigated the alibi and encouraged Applicant to
give him information on people that cquld testify to support the defense. He testified that if they
were to go to trial, they would do the best they could with the alibi defense. Coﬁnsel testified he
believed Applicant changed his mind and decided to plead guilty because he was extended an

acceptable offer.
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Applicant alleges he did not plead guilty knowingly and voluntarily because he believed
he had a viable alibi defense. This Court finds otherwise and concludes that Applicant’s guilty
plea was entered freely and voluntarily. To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly
entered into, ﬂle record must establiéh the defendant had a full undérstanding of the
consequences of his plea and the charges against him. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.
Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). Defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or
constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and “may be accomplished by
colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant's counsel, or both.” Roddy
v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 34, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000) (citing State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427
S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges
against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate's right to contest the validity of such a plea is
usually, but not invariably, foreclosed. Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137-38, 654 S.E.2d 870,

. 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 97 S. Ct. 1621, 52 L.Ed.2d 136
(1977)). Therefore, statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless
a criminal inmate presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his

statements. Crawford v. United States, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir.1975).

Applicant claims he did not plead guilty knowingly and voluntarily. This Court finds this
contention without merit. This Court finds the record reflects Applicant was advised of the
waiver of his constitutional rights by the plea court. This Court finds very credible Counsel’s
testimony regarding his preparation and advice concerning the case and the potential alibi
defense. This Court finds Applicant’s testimony not credible. The record reflects Applicant
admitted his guilt to the plea court. This Court finds that Applicant presented no evidence that he

was coerced or forced to plead guilty. This Court finds Apphcant’s intent to plead guilty was
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made clear to the plea judge. Applicant was fully informed of the nature and consequences of his
plea by his attorney and was advised further by the plea court. This Court finds Counsel’s
testimony credible and persuasive on the alibi defense issue in that the alibi was not solid and
was not likely to be successful at trial. Applicant knew he was pleading guilty and thereby
waiving any challenges to the evidence. This Court notes Applicant pled guilty to a negotiated
plea offer. This Court finds the plea judge correctly found Applicant’s plea was frgely, voluntary,
and intelligently made. This allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice
All Other Allegations

As to any and all allegations that were raised in the application or at the hearing in this
matter and not specifically addressed in this order, the Court finds Applicant failed to present any
evidence regarding such allegations. Accordingly, the Court finds Applicant has abandoned any
such allegations.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds and concludes Applicant has not establish;:d any
constitutional violations or deprivations that would require this Court to grant his application.
Applicant failed to demonstrate counsels’ performance was unreasonable under prevailing
professional norms. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625; Stalk v. State, 383 S.C. 559,
563, 681 S.E.2d 592, 594 (2009). Therefore, this application for post-conviction relief must be
denied and dismissed with prejudice.

The Court notes Applicant must file and serve a notice of appeal within thirty (30) days
from PCR counsel’s receipt of written notice of entry of judgment to secure the appropriate

appellate review. See Rule 203, SCACR. Pursuant to Austin v. State 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d

395 (1991), Applicant has a right to appellate counsel’s assistance in seekmg review of the denial
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of post-conviction relief. Rule 71.1(g), SCRCP, provides that if Applicant wishes to seek
appellate review, PCR counsel must serve and file a notice of appeal on Applicant’s behalf.
Applicant is directed to South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 243 for appropriate procedures for
appeal. |

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

1. The Application for Post-Conviction Relief is denied and dismissed
with prejudice; and

2. Applicant shall remain in the custody of the South Carolina
Department of Corrections to complete service of his sentence.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED this [Z’, day of ﬁ,u”q' L ,2015.

MAITE MURPHY
Presiding Judge
, South Carolina
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) INDICTMENT

) -
COUNTY OF ORANGEBURG ) 2011GS38-1722

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on November 7, 2011 the Grand Jurors of
Orangeburg County present upon their oath: ’

ARMED ROBBERY

That on or about December 28, 2010, in Orangeburg County, the defendant,
Dyzshon Rakeem Antonio Boykins did by use of force, threats or intimidation and
while armed with a deadly weapon or while alleging either by words or action that
he was armed while using a representation of a deadly weapon or any object
which a person present during the commission of the robbery reasonably '
believed to be a deadly weapon, take and carry away goods and/or monies from
the person or presence of the victim, S. C. State Credit Union, with the intent to

_permanently deprive the victim of possession of the goods or monies. Such
weapon or alleged weapon described as a handgun. This offense in violation of
Section 16-11-330 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, as amended.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in

such case made and provided. /)_WQ
|

Donald N. Sorenson, Solicitor
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"STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA R ; IN THE COV, F GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF Orangeburg " - ) 4
1 STATE, - VS. ) INDICTMENT/CASE#: __ 2011GS38-1722
: Dyzshon Rakeem Antonio Boykins y  AWHE_J697751
AKA: ) Date of Offense: _12/28/2010
Race: BLACK Sex: M Age: 23 ) S.C.Code § :_16-11-330(A)
pos: R ss+ )  CDRCode#: _ 0139
Address: _ ] )
ity,State,Zip: )
o te o Baymen. SC 25018 ) SENTENCE SHEET
*CDL Yes[J No[] CMV Yes[J No[J] Hazmat Yes[] No[]
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was {J CONVICTEDOF or XIPLEADS
TO: Entering Bank, Depository or Bldg and Loan Association with intent to Steal
s inyiolationof § 16-11-380 of the 8.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0257
» E NON-VIOLENT (] VIOLENT [XISERIOUS [JMOST SERIOUS  [JMandatory GPS(CSC [16§17-25-45

w/minor Ist or Lewd Act)
The chargeis: [] As Indicted, (JLesser Included Offense, B]Degesflant Waives Presentment to Grand Jugy. 2 !,3 (defendant’s initials)

chﬁations or Recommendation, otiated Sentence, Recommendation by the State.
AYTEST: ' <1y M LD bax (Y332
T Sﬁm Do@ SC Bar# Attomney for Defendant SC Bar#
WHE RE, the-Befendant is commited to the $2 State Department of Corrections, [J—GCounty-DetentionrCenter,

for a determinate term of Z daysime z A suthfol-Offemdera , -

a o pay a fi + provided that upon the serv days/months/years and/or paymen

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

Defendant

ice of

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

[ CONCURRENT or [0 CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:
B The Defendant is to be given credit fo & serveQ pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied

by the State Department of Corrections.
[J The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammunition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[JRESTITUTION: [ Deferred ([ Def. Walves Hearing [Jordered PTUP
Total: § plus 20% fee: $ days/hogirs Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED
[J Set by SCDPPPS Attend Vac. Rehab. or Job Corp.
May serve W/E begining
Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling g
*Fine: $ Random Drug/Alcohol testing
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) 3 Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1-211(AX1) (Conv. Surcharge) $100 3100.C0 pmts. of $ beginning
14-1.211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) $100 [ . R
g $6.5-2995 (DUI ent) 512 5 OS — paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 $ ; -1 —f ‘.-&-—
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) £500 3 mdé(’
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 3 95.00
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 (3
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) £50 3
§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ca 3 (O Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) $5 s S5.00 § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk
3%to County (if paid in installments) 3 o during probation.
TOTAL $ 1\ %3 )

\ e Presiding Judge
oo Repone DPM% oA, Sonce Dui ]
R : @) - Sentence Date: — |\ —
Court Reporter $ entence Date p\ !3

SCCA/217 {03/201 1)
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) - INDICTMENT

) -
COUNTY OF ORANGEBURG ) 2011GS38-1723

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on November 7, 2011 the Grand Jurors of
Orangeburg County present upon their oath:

POSS. WEAPON DURING VIOLENT CRIME, IF NOT ALSO SENTENCED TO
LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE OR DEATH

_ That in Orangeburg County on or about December 28, 2010, the defendant, Dyzshon

Rakeem Antonio Boykins did visibly display or have in his possession, a handgun during
the commission of a violent crime. This offense in violation of Section 16-23-490, of the

South Carolina Code of Laws, as amended.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in

such case made and provided. | /}&
| | J

A
" Don%j N. éﬁ(nson, Solicitor
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT
Certiorari to Orangeburg County MR 7 5015 ‘
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge BG SUPREME COuKT
DYZSHON R. BOYKINS,
PETITIONER/RESPONDENT,
V.
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,
RESPONDENT/PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002513

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

[ certify that a true copy of the appendix in this case have been served on Clay Mitchell,
Esquire at the Rembert Dennis Building, 1000 Assembly Street, Room 519,/Columbia, SC 29201

this 7th day of March, 2016.

Tiffafly’L. Butler \
Apppilate Defender

TORNEY FOR PETITIONER

SWORN TO BEFORE ME this 7th day
of March, 2016.

(VYo WP A \J-Mw (L.S)

Notary Public for South Carolina
My Commission Expires: July 3, 2023.




